

FSU-2.007 Use of University Lands and Facilities.

(1) Introduction. The Florida State University is a public institution. This regulation sets forth the guidelines for use of University facilities for events other than the normal University functions of teaching, research, service and administration. Use of ~~campus~~ facilities is administered by various ~~University~~ units; however, final authority for use of all campus facilities lies with the President or designee.

(2) Scope. University space, including University lands and facilities, will be used first for the official and regular purposes and functions of the University. The University may extend the use of specified space to members of the University community or to the general public subject to the provisions outlined within this regulation. This regulation shall be interpreted and implemented in a manner consistent with the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, Art. I of the State Constitution, and the Campus Free Expression Act, section 1004.097, F.S. Nothing in this regulation is intended to or shall be used to prohibit free expression based on viewpoint, or to prohibit spontaneous expressive activity in outdoor areas of campus subject to this regulation and other reasonable time, place, and manner restrictions.

(3) Definitions.

(a) "University Persons, Groups and Organizations." University persons, groups and organizations are defined as one of the following: individual members of the University community (students, faculty, and employees acting in an official University capacity); all Student Government Association (SGA) entities; student organizations officially registered with ~~recognized by~~ the University; officially constituted colleges, schools, divisions, departments, agencies; and the University Board of Trustees or other corporate organizational units which are a part of, or operate on behalf of, the University, such as Direct Support Organizations, (DSO's).

(b) "University Related Groups and Organizations." Groups and organizations not officially registered ~~recognized by~~ or affiliated with the University, or otherwise failing to meet the definition in paragraph (a) above, but which are related to the University because of the promotion of interests of the University community, the academic professions, and other related interests of the faculty, staff, or students, or which perform other service to the University and its community, such as credit unions, academic professional associations and fraternities, employee organizations, charitable community organizations, other public educational institutions, and the like.

(c) "Non-University Persons, Groups and Organizations." Persons, groups or organizations which do not meet the definitions of persons, groups, or organizations as defined in paragraph (a) or (b) above, including those groups and organizations which exist primarily for the purpose of carrying on commercial activity for profit, or which otherwise exist primarily for private individual gain or benefit.

(d) "Private Events." A private event held on the University campus that is open to attendance only by members and invited guests of the host organization or person.

(e) "Public Events." A public event held on the University campus that is open to attendance by

all members of the University community and/or to the general public in accordance with the provisions of this regulation.

(f) "Continuing Education Programs." Continuing Education programs are those conferences, meetings, and other events registered with the Center for Professional Development & Public Services that have as their purpose the providing of instructional, training, and other educational programs to persons outside the University community. For regulation(s) pertaining to continuing education programs and events registered with the Center for Academic and Professional Development, refer to Regulation FSU-5.090, Center for Professional Development and Public Service.

(g) "Outdoor Areas of Campus." Outdoor areas of the campus are classified as follows and are subject to use in accordance with this regulation:

1. Academic areas. Outdoor areas immediately adjacent to classrooms, libraries, laboratories, auditoria, and research facilities.
 2. ~~The Student Center~~ Oglesby Union, Student Services Building, Askew Student Life Center, and Health and Wellness Center areas. Outdoor areas immediately adjacent to these facilities, as well as Woodward Street Plaza, Langford Green, and Landis Green.
 3. Residential areas. Outdoor areas immediately adjacent to residence halls on the University campus.
 4. Campus Recreation areas. Outdoor areas of campus under the purview of Campus Recreation including the Lakefront Property ~~Seminole Reservation~~, Main Campus Intramural Fields, Recreation Sportsplex, Harkins Field, and Westside Courts.
 5. University Relations areas. Outdoor areas of campus under the purview of University Relations including ~~Langford Green~~, areas immediately adjacent to the Westcott Building including Westcott Plaza, and Mina Jo Powell Green.
 6. Athletics areas. Outdoor areas of campus under the purview of Athletics including Doak S. Campbell Stadium, Dick Howser Baseball Stadium, the Seminole Soccer Complex, the JoAnne Graf Softball Stadium, Speicher Tennis Complex, Mike Long Track, Basketball Facility, Morcom Aquatic Center, Sand Volleyball Courts, Sportsmanship Plaza (Gate G), University Center Gates Plaza (Gate K) and sports practice areas established for special uses. The Seminole Legacy Golf Club Golf Course is under the purview of the Business Services Office.
 7. College of Music. Outdoor areas of campus under the purview of the College of Music including the Owen Sellars Amphitheatre, ~~and the Marching Chiefs Practice Field.~~
 8. Donald L. Tucker Center. Outdoor areas of campus immediately surrounding and under the purview of the Tucker Center.
 9. Panama City Campus. Outdoor areas of campus under the purview of the Office of Finance and Administration in Panama City.
 10. Other areas of the campus established for special uses or purposes not otherwise designated in this section. The scheduling or use of these areas for meetings or events contemplated by this regulation shall be through the President's office, depending on entity assigned responsibility and control.
- (h). "Camping". Camping is defined as use of a vehicle, tent, or other shelter at any time, and/or bedding or hammocks after sundown ~~with the intent to stay overnight~~.

(4) Scheduling of Facilities and Outdoor Areas of Campus

(a) The following facilities and outdoor areas of campus are subject to this regulation. Scheduling of facilities and outdoor areas of campus is subject to oversight and policies determined by the following University units:

1. Academic areas. Non-academic use of these facilities and outdoor areas are requested through the space reservation office ~~Guest Services and Public Functions Office~~ in the Student Oglesby Union subject to approval by the University Registrar or designee.
2. The Student Oglesby Union, Student Services Building and the Askew Student Life Center areas. The scheduling of events or meetings in these facilities and outdoor areas is through the space reservation office ~~Guest Services and Public Functions Office~~ in the Student Oglesby Union.
3. Residential areas. The scheduling of meetings or events in these facilities and outdoor areas is scheduled through the Executive Director of University Housing Office or designee.
4. Campus Recreation areas. Facilities and outdoor areas are scheduled through the Director of Campus Recreation or designee.
5. University Relations areas. Facilities, including Miller Hall, Board Room UCC 5301, Beth Moor Lounge, and outdoor areas are scheduled through the Vice President of University Relations or designee.
6. Athletics areas. Facilities and outdoor areas are scheduled through the Director of Athletics or designee.
7. College of Music. Facilities and outdoor areas are scheduled through the Dean of the College of Music or designee.
8. Center for Global Engagement. Facilities are scheduled through the Director of Center for Global Engagement or designee.
9. Dunlap Student Success Center. Facilities are scheduled through the Assistant Vice President of Career Services ~~Director of Dunlap Student Success Center (Center for Civic Education and Service and Career Center)~~ or designee.
10. Center for Professional Development. Facilities are scheduled through the Director of the Center for Professional Development or designee.
11. Donald L. Tucker Center. Facilities and outdoor areas are scheduled through the Director of the Center or designee.
12. Campus Dining and Business Services facilities are scheduled through the Director of Business Services or designee.
13. Panama City ~~c~~Campus facilities and outdoor spaces are scheduled through the Director of Finance and Administration for the Panama City campus, or ~~his or her~~ designee, in consultation with the Dean.
14. Other areas of the campus established for special uses or purposes. The scheduling or use of these facilities for meetings or events contemplated by this regulation shall be through the President's Office, depending on entity assigned responsibility and control.

(b) Outdoor areas of campus may be used on an unscheduled basis for spontaneous expressive activities, provided that:

1. The University has not reserved or restricted the use of an outdoor area for individuals or groups pursuant to this regulation or for other official University purposes;

2. The unscheduled use of the outdoor area does not materially and substantially disrupt the functioning of the University or the expressive rights of other individuals or groups; and
3. The use of the outdoor area is otherwise in compliance with applicable laws, University regulations, and other reasonable time, place, and manner restrictions.

(c) Expressive activities in outdoor areas that have been reserved by the University or another individual, group, or organization for use through established University procedures are subject to removal or relocation under the parameters of this regulation. Additionally, no individual or group may claim exclusive use of any area without prior approval through the applicable event permitting processes.

(d) Requests for space by University and University Related Persons, Groups, and Organizations must be made per any policies set by the respective ~~University~~ units which oversee scheduling as outlined in this regulation. Said University unit policies must be consistent with this regulation.

~~(e)~~ Requests by Non-university persons, groups, or organizations requests for use of facilities or outdoor areas must be made per the policies set by the respective ~~University~~ unit which oversees scheduling as outlined in this regulation at least fourteen days in advance of the event. Requests for any continuing or permanent use of University facilities by a non-university user, for a certain time each day, or a certain day of the week for a number of weeks, shall not be permitted under this regulation.

(f) Meetings or activities scheduled in accordance with this regulation that contemplate the charging of admission or other fees shall be subject to policies as approved by the University President or designee.

~~(g)~~ All instructional space of the University, including seminar rooms, classrooms, laboratories, other research facilities, teaching auditoria, and libraries, is considered academic space and is under the assignment and control of the University Registrar. Any non-academic use of such facilities under this regulation shall be on a space-available basis. Requests for said space shall be made through the space reservation office of the Student Oglesby Union Guest Services Office subject to approval of the University Registrar.

(5) Facilities and Space Use other than for Official University Purposes by Category of User.

(a) Priority for Use of University Facilities.

1. Priority for the use of University facilities shall be awarded in the following order:

- a. University persons, groups, and organizations.
- b. University Related persons, groups, and organizations.
- c. Non-University persons, groups, and organizations.

2. When in the best interest of the University, such as the unforeseen need of facilities for major athletic events, priority of use may be reassigned with the approval of the President or designee.

(b) Use of University Facilities by University Persons, Groups, and Organizations.

1. University persons, groups, and organizations may use University facilities for the purpose of hosting events. A license agreement to secure use of facilities for private events may be issued by the space reservation office Public Functions Office in the Student Oglesby Union-Guest Services. Events may be subject to the registration requirements of the respective ~~University~~ units outlined in (4), which include rental payment, certificate of insurance, security, and other

registration requirements when deemed necessary by the University for the protection of the facility and the group participants and in the best legal and financial interest of the University.

2. Within the provisions of this section, private events shall not be accorded priority over public events. Any priority will be determined at the time of the scheduling of the event.

3. No University person, ~~or organization, or group~~ shall sponsor an event, for any Non-University person, group, or organization for the commercial or private benefit of said non-University person, group or organization that has not sought and received permission on its own to use University facilities.

(c) Use of University Facilities by University Related Persons, Groups, or Organizations.

1. University Related persons, groups or organizations may use University facilities subject to the following conditions:

a. All use of University facilities by University related persons, groups, or organizations shall be conditional upon the execution of a written agreement between the University and the individual, group, or organization desiring to use the facilities. Said agreement shall provide for, but is not limited to the following, that such individual, group, or organization:

i. Shall pay to the University the established rental fee as provided in (4)(d) plus any additional out-of-pocket costs incurred by the University or the state in the scheduling and holding of the activity, including but not limited to security, parking, and physical services.

ii. Shall supervise the event and accept full responsibility for any loss and/or damage to University facilities and/or equipment and shall hold the University harmless from any claims arising from any personal injuries in the use of the premises.

iii. Shall be responsible for reporting and paying all applicable Federal and State taxes.

iv. Shall assume all responsibility for the promotion and advertising of the meeting or event utilizing the University's ~~pPolicy for pPosting, pPromotions, aAdvertising, cChalking, and the dDistribution of mMaterials on FSU Campuses as adopted~~ in Regulation FSU-2.0131.

v. ~~The University's name and/or symbols shall not be used~~ the University's name and/or symbols in connection with the promotion or holding of any event without the express, written permission of the University.

vi. Shall provide the equipment of any type required for the event unless otherwise agreed to between the University and the individual, group, or organization. ~~The University's name and/or symbols shall not be used in connection with the promotion or holding of any event without the express, written permission of the University.~~

vii. Shall provide evidence of insurance required for the event as determined by the University Environmental Health and Safety department.

(d) Use of University facilities by Non-University Persons, Groups, and Organizations.

1. Use of University Facilities by Non-University Persons, Groups, and Organizations. Generally, groups in this category will not enjoy the use of campus facilities. However, it is possible that special conditions might permit the use of University facilities by some organizations in this group, such as educational programs that may be attended by members of corporate organizations.

2. Non-University persons, groups or organizations who are permitted use of University facilities shall use University facilities subject to the conditions outlined in (5) (c.):

(6) General Conditions Applicable to All Uses of University Areas and Campus Facilities.

(a) All uses of the University areas and facilities in accordance with this regulation are subject to the laws of the State of Florida and the rules, regulations, and policies of the Board of Trustees and the Florida State University and other applicable laws and rules.

(b) The University reserves the right to reasonably determine the time, place, and manner of all events held in University areas and facilities subject to this regulation as outlined in section (8) of this regulation.

(c) The use of public address systems or other electrical amplification equipment in outdoor areas of campus is subject to approval by the Director of the ~~Student~~ Student ~~Organization~~ Organization or designee, or the Chief of Police or designee. Approval will be granted when it is necessary that such equipment be utilized in the meeting or event and when the use of such equipment does not interfere with the academic processes or activities of the University or with other previously scheduled events or campus activities. All such use of public address systems or other amplification equipment is subject to the other provisions of this regulation and shall maintain a reasonable sound level which meets the communication needs of the event without excessive noise penetration to adjacent areas.

(d) All users of University areas and facilities shall take adequate precautions to avoid endangering the safety of persons in the area of the facilities used.

(e) The Florida State University does not allow the use of its facilities by groups or organizations whose practices may impact the health or safety of any individual or property. ~~are in conflict with the University's Non-Discrimination Policy.~~

(f) Cooperative arrangements with State Agencies for the use of University Facilities shall be permitted under this regulation.

(g) All persons, groups, and organizations must adhere to the University's policy on the use of alcoholic beverages at events, Regulation FSU-6.012 and the University's policy for posting, promotions, advertising, chalking, and the distribution of materials in Posting Regulation FSU-2.0131.

(h) Persons, groups, and organizations using a University facility or outdoor area shall clearly state the identity of the sponsoring group in its request, signage at the event, and in news releases, placards, tickets, etc.

(i) Use of University Facilities by Private Individuals and Commercial Organizations. University space shall not be provided for private individuals or commercial organizations except when specifically determined by the University that such use is in the best interest of the University and not in conflict with other University uses.

(j) Use of University Facilities for Political Campaign Events. It is recognized that the University, as a state educational institution, has an obligation to assist political organizations to inform the faculty and student body of the issues in primary and general elections. Therefore, all political campaign events shall be limited to meetings or events sponsored by ~~recognized~~ recognized organizations affiliated or registered with ~~of~~ the University and consistent with applicable laws, regulations and rules. Costs associated with the use of university facilities for campaign events shall be the responsibility of the sponsoring organization or political campaign.

(k) Individuals or groups who occupy university facilities or outdoor areas of campus are responsible for removing all equipment and debris following use of the space. Individuals or groups may be held financially responsible for the university's cost for removal of any debris or

equipment or any other damage to university property.

(7). Use of Campus Lands; Camping.

(a) ~~Tents, shelters, or other~~ temporary structures are prohibited on lands of the Florida State University campus except when used in connection with activities of academic or administrative units of the University, or as otherwise approved pursuant to this subsection.

(b) ~~Tents, shelters, or temporary structures~~ ~~Tents or other temporary structures~~ may be erected on University property by academic or administrative units only for activities directly related to the mission of the unit and only after first obtaining written approval of the Vice President for Finance and Administration or designee, who shall consider time period, space, traffic, and other safety and aesthetic factors.

(c) Student Government and registered ~~recognized~~ student organizations may secure approval for ~~use of tents, shelters, -or~~ temporary structures for activities described above by request to the Vice President for Finance and Administration or designee, who shall consider time period, space, traffic, and other safety and aesthetic factors.

(d) Camping is prohibited on lands of the Florida State University campus except when such camping is in connection with an official activity of the University, such as an activity of an academic or administrative unit. Prior written approval for such camping must be granted by the Vice President for Finance and Administration or designee taking into consideration time period, space, traffic, and other safety and aesthetic factors, along with the health, safety and welfare of the participants, the University community, and guests of the University. However, the Florida State University Chief of Police may authorize the use of vehicles, mobile homes, camping trailers, gazebos, tarps and similar structures in pre-designated areas in conjunction with or furtherance of an official one- day university event.

(8) Prohibited Conduct

The University prohibits any person from interfering with university and authorized functions, activities, and events and from participating in unlawful conduct. As such, no person may engage in the following:

(a) Obstruct or impede vehicular, bicycle, pedestrian, or other traffic;

(b) Obstruct any entrance or exit to any building, assembly space, driveway, parking lot, vehicular path, stairway or walkway or impede entry to or exit from any such area;

(c) Build or construct any shelter, barrier, or other physical structure.

(d) Camping as defined in this regulation.

(e) Disrupt, disturb, or interfere with educational or administrative activities, events, or operations inside or outside any building;

(f) Enter into any building or facility or occupy any university building without appropriate authorization;

(g) Violate any applicable federal, state, or local law, rule, or ordinance;

(h) Fail to comply with any reasonable instruction by university policy or any University official action in the performance of their duty;

(i) Cause any threat to the health or safety of any passerby or member of the University community;

(j) Engage in harassing conduct as defined in the Student Conduct Code, regulation 3.004 which includes any gesture, written, verbal, or physical act or any electronic communication that places a person in reasonable fear of harm to their person or damage to their property, infringes upon rights of personal privacy, has the effect of substantially interfering with a reasonable person's academic performance or ability to participate in opportunities or benefits provided by the University, or has the effect of substantially interfering with the orderly operation of the University.

(k) Obstruct, disrupt, or attempt by physical force to cancel or discontinue speech by any speaker, or the observation of speech by any person intending to see or hear a speaker;

(l) Damage University property, including but not limited to structures, grass, shrubs, trees, fountains, or other landscaping;

(m) Mark university property, including any vertical or horizontal surface, other than in accordance with regulation 2.0131.

(n) Use amplified sound, including but not limited to bullhorns, airhorns, and noise-making devices or instruments, except as approved in advance under applicable policy and within sound limits that will not disrupt University operations;

(o) Wear any mask, hood, or device whereby any portion of the face is so hidden, concealed, or covered as to conceal the identity of the wearer.

(p) Conduct that is in violation of the lawful time, place, and manner restrictions in this regulation.

(q) Any inflammatory speech that is directed to inciting or producing imminent lawless action, and is likely to incite or produce such action. d

(9) Time, Place and Manner Restrictions

Time, place, and manner restrictions are content-neutral limitations that serve the University interest to ensure the health, safety, and rights of all members of the University community.

(a) No person, while participating in any meeting, assembly, picketing activity, demonstration, protest or gathering shall carry or possess any of the following:

1. Signs exceeding the size restriction of 24" by 36". Only signs constructed of foam, cardboard, or paper shall be permitted to be carried. Signs may be mounted on sticks or posts provided that the sticks or posts are constructed of wood, foam, or plastic and their dimensions do not exceed one-half inch in diameter (if round in shape) or one-fourth inch thick by two inches wide (if rectangular in shape).

2. Unmanned signs, banners, or flags. All signs, banners, or flags must be in the possession of persons at all times, and any unmanned signs, banners or flags will be collected.

3. Signs, banners, flags, or displays that infer university endorsement either by content or location.

4. Weapons or firearms as defined by FL Statute 790.001.

5. Mace or pepper spray unless for the purpose of personal protection.

6. Bats or other club-like objects.

7. Face shields, gas masks, hand-held shields, or helmets.

of violations of University regulations or policies, or other applicable laws or ordinances.

8. Flammable liquid.

9. Torches or other open flames, except as authorized by University officials.
10. Wagons, carts, or ladders, except as authorized by University officials, or other items that could be used to barricade or to push or manipulate crowds.

11. Tents, vehicles, shelters, and/or bedding as outlined in section (7) of this regulation.

12. Any other items reasonably determined by the President or designee to be a public safety hazard.

(b) Meetings, assemblies, picketing activities, demonstrations protests, and gatherings are subject to the following restrictions:

1. Public address systems and other electrical amplification equipment may be utilized for events, subject to the provisions in section (6) of this regulation. All such use of public address systems or other amplification equipment shall maintain a reasonable sound level which meets the communication needs of the event without excessive noise penetration to adjacent areas.

2. Only University or University-related events will be permitted during any final exam period, and no unapproved amplified sound will be permitted at outdoor events during any final exam period.

2. The University may place limits on the attendance of expressive activities based upon the capacity of the forum.

3. Outdoor events are only permitted between sunrise and sundown unless prior approval is granted from the University i.e. scheduled sports competitions located in properly lighted space designed for such activity and scheduled through Campus Recreation.

4. Outdoor events are not permitted to block ingress or egress to any building or pathway, stairs, landings, or other areas deemed to create a hazard to the safety of the community.

Specific Authority Board of Governors Regulations 1.001 (3) (j) and (7) (g). History–New 9-30-75, Formerly 6C2-2.07, Amended 5-11-04, 9-24-10, 1-13-2012, 3-8-2013, 9-4-2018, ____